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Endurance Amann GmbH, Massenbachhausen/Germany 

Management report for the financial year 2020/2021 

General business conditions and environment 

Endurance Amann GmbH, Massenbachhausen/Germany, produces, machines and deliv-
ers aluminium pressure die casting parts. It also develops and manufactures related 
moulds. Its main clientele includes the automotive industry itself and automotive component 
suppliers. The primary sales market is Germany. The products are manufactured on own 
and leased plant-site land at the Massenbachhausen/Germany site.  

In the calendar year 2020, due to the Covid-19 crisis, the German economy recorded a 
decrease in the gross domestic product of -5.0% (prior year: +0.6%) and the automotive 
market recorded a slump of -23.7%. 

Business trend and financial performance 

In the financial year 2020/2021, the revenue of the Company was at kEUR 43,163, which 
is a 11.3% decrease from the prior year. The decrease is due to lower revenue generated 
from moulds. The Company continues to focus on improving quality and cost control and 
on effective management of inventory levels of raw materials and finished goods. 

In relation to revenue, cost of raw materials, consumables and supplies decreased from 
42.2% to 39.7%, which is attributable to the product mix.  

Personnel expenses declined due to the short-time working scheme that was applied over 
the year. 

Depreciation has been adapted to match the longer useful lives of the new machines and 
therefore declined by 25.6%. 

The other operating expenses decreased by 16% as a result of the lockdown seen in the 
spring of 2020 and the related savings that were introduced. 

The operating result (EBIT) amounts to kEUR 3,108 compared to EBIT of kEUR 2,297 in 
the prior year. Having taken into account interest received and paid and income taxes, the 
profit for the financial year 2020/2021 totals kEUR 2,041 compared to a profit for the prior 
year of kEUR 1,621.  

The EBIT return on revenue reported a positive recovery amounting to 7.2% compared to 
a return on revenue of 4.7% in the prior year. 
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Assets, liabilities and financial position 

Due to amortisation, depreciation and write-downs, the balance sheet total decreased to 
kEUR 58,337 (prior year: kEUR 61,364). Therefore, the property, plant and equipment to 
total assets ratio slightly declined to 45.5% (prior year: 47.1%). Overall, the structure of the 
balance sheet remained constant. The Company’s cash position in the financial year 
2020/2021 was satisfactory.  

The increase in receivables from affiliated companies is based on a higher balance in the 
cash pool account. At the same time, cash and cash equivalents recorded a corresponding 
decrease. The decline in other assets is attributable to the excess of advance tax payments 
carried in the prior year being refunded. 

Equity increased for earnings-related reasons. Prior-year net retained profits were fully al-
located to revenue reserves. The equity ratio rose to 69.1% (prior year: 62.4%). 

Provisions declined because transactions recognised in the prior year have been settled. 

Loans payable totalling kEUR 1,086 were repaid as scheduled. The Company was able to 
fully meet its payment obligations.  

The decrease in trade payables results from the postponement of payments as at the prior 
year’s balance sheet date due to the uncertain effects from the Covid-lockdown.  

Capital investments and financing 

In the reporting year, the Company invested kEUR 1,026 in property, plant and equipment 
(prior year: kEUR 7,443). These capital investments mainly related to plants in mechanical 
production.  

The leasing expenses for machinery and motor vehicles incurred in the financial year 
2020/2021 amounted to kEUR 63 (prior year: kEUR 72). The Company is financed through 
own funds and through long- and short-term bank loans.  

Number of employees 

In the reporting year, the permanent workforce included an average of 216 employees. The 
number of apprentices was at 9 on the annual average.  

In 2021/22, new staff is intended to be recruited in the mechanical production, quality as-
surance and foundry functions. The Company seeks to continuously raise productivity 
through internal and external staff training. 

Risk report 

Appropriate controlling and reporting instruments are used to timely identify, and take ap-
propriate action to address, potential risks from the market environment characterised by 
increasing competition and technical change. The other risks in the finance and technical 
areas are addressed, among other things, by taking measures, such as: 

- Permanent control of production processes 
- Expansion of the production planning and production control system (PPS system) 
- Product liability insurance 
- Business interruption insurance 
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A major part of the Company’s revenue is realised with a limited number of customers, 
which involves the risk that one of these customers will considerably reduce its sales volume 
or intensify the pricing pressure. To minimise this risk, the Company is continuing its efforts 
to broaden its customer and product base. 

In order to improve its financial development, the Company continues to review systems 
and processes for further rationalisation potentials to be tapped. We address the persisting 
pricing and cost pressures through further productivity gains.  

Liquidity is controlled within the framework of short- and medium-term budgetary planning. 
Apart from unforeseeable circumstances, the Company anticipates that, based on the budg-
etary planning for 2021/2022, it will be able to finance budgeted capital investments of 
kEUR 8,977 through cash flows from operating activities.  

Our Company is affected by normal price risks, especially in the area of aluminium procure-
ment. There are no currency hedges or long-term supply contracts. 

The Company seeks to mitigate default risks through corresponding receivables manage-
ment, which consists in checking new customers, determining delivery limits by means of 
the collection agency Creditreform, regularly examining receivables from our customers 
outstanding, a strict dunning system, customer visits or similar. 

Implementing the current planning may be subject to influences from the Covid-19 pan-
demic and the delivery shortages on the semiconductor market. It cannot be precluded that 
this will impact on our financial position and financial performance.  

Outlook 

In the calendar year 2021, a minor recovery of the German gross domestic product of pres-
ently 3.1% compared to the prior year is expected, with growth of 10.2% being expected for 
the automotive market. 

The product portfolio is continuously updated and expanded. In line with an improvement 
of production processes by introducing appropriate measures, this should lead to an earn-
ings improvement in the medium term. 

The cooperation with the Indian and above all the Italian Endurance Group plants is to be 
further expanded, which we expect to result in additional synergy and standardisation ef-
fects. 

In 2021/2022, the Company plans for capital investments that will comprise the realisation 
of new product lines for the new customer projects but also an expansion of the foundry 
capacities of the larger locking force classes. 

For the financial year 2021/2022, we expect revenue growth of 13%. With a slightly higher 
cost of materials to revenue ratio and somewhat higher labour cost, the upcoming financial 
year is anticipated to come to a result for the year at the level of the financial year 
2019/2020. 
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Endurance Amann GmbH, Massenbachhausen/Germany

Statement of profit and loss 
for the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021

2020/2021 2020/2021 2019/2020
EUR EUR kEUR

1. Revenue 43,163,317.32 48,636

2. Decrease (-) in finished goods inventories -614,807.56 -41
and work in progress

3. Other operating income 34,704.51 149
42,583,214.27 48,744

4. Cost of materials
a) Cost of raw materials, consumables and
     supplies 17,127,921.83 20,516
b) Cost of purchased services 4,852,120.79 5,305

21,980,042.62 25,821

5. Personnel expenses
a) Wages and salaries 7,808,653.19 8,831
b) Social security, post-employment and other 1,663,461.61 1,744
     personnel expenses 9,472,114.80 10,575
- of which post-employment costs: 
  EUR 18,533.98 (prior year: kEUR 20)

6. Amortisation and write-downs of intangible fixed assets
and depreciation and write-downs of
property, plant and equipment 3,295,433.47 4,427

7. Other operating expenses 4,697,638.49 5,593

8. Other interest and similar income 16,223.04 18
- of which from affiliated companies: 
  EUR 16,223.04 (prior year: kEUR 18)

9. Interest and similar expenses 221,928.47 75

2,932,279.46 2,271

10. Income taxes 861,053.50 620

11. Earnings after taxes 2,071,225.96 1,651

12. Other taxes 30,374.72 30

13. Profit for the year 2,040,851.24 1,621

 084629061_2021 - Endurance Amann Appendix 1.3
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Endurance Amann GmbH, Massenbachhausen/Germany 
Registration court: Stuttgart/Germany HRB 108298 

Notes to the financial statements for the financial year 2020/2021 

General information 

The annual financial statements on hand have been prepared according to Secs. 242 et seq. and 
Secs. 264 et seq. German Commercial Code (HGB) as well as according to the relevant regula-
tions of the German Limited Liability Companies Act (GmbHG). The regulations for large firms 
organised in a corporate form apply. 

The nature of expense format has been applied to the statement of profit and loss.  

To enhance the clarity of the presentation, the disclosures on the allocation to several balance 
sheet items and a part of the separate line items for subtotals were included in the notes to the 
financial statements. 

Accounting and valuation principles 

The following accounting and valuation principles were again applied to the annual financial state-
ments. 

Intangible fixed assets acquired for a consideration have been accounted for at acquisition cost 
and are amortised on a straight-line basis over the useful life.  

Property, plant and equipment have been recognised at acquisition cost, with depreciable as-
sets being depreciated. Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis based on their expected useful life, which is derived from the German tax depreciation 
tables. Assets with an individual net value of up to EUR 800.00 are fully depreciated in the year 
of acquisition. Additions to property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a pro rata basis. As 
a result of the present conditions, the useful life of newer production machines was extended in 
the financial year. 

Shares in affiliated companies are recognised at acquisition cost. 

Inventories are recognised at the lower of acquisition or production cost and current value.  

Inventories of raw materials, consumables and supplies have been capitalised at the lower of 
average cost price or current value as at the reporting date.  
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In measuring work in progress and finished goods, appropriate portions of production over-
head and indirect material as well as depreciation have, in addition to direct material, direct labour 
and special direct production cost, also been taken into account to the extent that they result from 
production. 

For prepayments on moulds, the respective stage of completion has been taken into account. 
Moulds purchased from third parties have been accounted for at the lower of acquisition cost or 
market price. 

Adequate provisions have been made for all potential losses, i.e. deductions for costs to sell have 
been made from anticipated sales prices. 

Appropriate allowances have been made for all inventory risks identifiable as at the reporting date 
which result from above average days in inventories, reduced usability and lower replacement 
costs. 

Apart from retention of title as is customary in the trade, the inventories are free from third-party 
rights. 

Receivables and other current assets have been recognised at nominal value. All risk items 
have been taken into account by making appropriate specific allowances; the general credit risk 
has been covered by making general allowances.  

Cash and cash equivalents have been recognised at nominal value. These include cash-in-
hand and bank balances 

Prepaid expenses were recorded for cost before the balance sheet date that constitute expenses 
for a certain period of time after that date. 

Treasury shares have been openly deducted from issued capital in accordance with Sec. 272 
(1a) HGB.  

Other provisions cover all contingent liabilities. They have been stated at the settlement value 
necessary according to sound business judgement (i.e. including future costs and price in-
creases). 

Liabilities have been recognised at settlement value. 

Differences between the values recognised under German commercial law and tax law are rec-
ognised under provisions. This results in deferred tax assets. They are determined using the spe-
cific tax rates of the Company. The Company exercised the option as conferred under Sec. 274 
HGB.
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Notes to the balance sheet 

Fixed assets 

The movements in the individual fixed asset items are presented in the statement of movements 
in fixed assets, stating amortisation, depreciation and write-downs of the reporting year (appendix 
to the notes). 

Receivables and other current assets

Like in the prior year, all trade receivables and other assets have a residual term of less than one 
year. Receivables from affiliated companies include cash pooling receivables of kEUR 4,004 
(prior year: kEUR 2,257) and a loan granted to Endurance Overseas of kEUR 3,000 (prior year: 
kEUR 3,000). 

Equity 

The issued capital of the Company amounts to kEUR 3,250. The shareholder is Endurance Tech-
nologies Ltd., Aurangabad/India. It holds shares with a nominal value of kEUR 3,050. Shares with 
a nominal value of kEUR 200 are held by the Company itself. 

Under Sec. 272 (1a) HGB, the nominal value of the treasury shares of kEUR 200 was deducted 
from subscribed capital.  

Other provisions 

Provisions primarily comprise variable salary components (kEUR 548), warranty risks 
(kEUR 211), credit notes to be issued and tool cost allowances (kEUR 4,632) as well as outstand-
ing invoices (kEUR 1,286).

Liabilities 

The residual terms of liabilities are specified in the statement of changes in liabilities. 
31 Mar. 2021 31 Mar. 2020

Residual 
term of up 
to 1 year 

Residual 
term of 

more than 
1 year 

of which re-
sidual term 

of more 
than 

5 years 

Total Residual 
term of up 
to 1 year 

Residual 
term of 

more than 
1 year 

of which re-
sidual term 

of more 
than 

5 years 

Total 

kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR 
1. Liabilities to 
banks 1,085.7 4,700.0 1,357.1 5,785.7  1,085.7 5,785.7 1,642.8 6,871.4 
2. Trade payables 3,366.2 3,366.2  6,056.7 6,056.7 
3. Liabilities to affi-
liated companies 440.3 440.3  0.0 0.0 
4. Other liabilities 1,170.0 1,170.0  1,147.1 1,147.1 
- of which taxes 476.7 476.7  377.8 377.8 
- of which relating 
to social security 
and similar obliga-
tions 45.1 45.1  31.3 31.3 
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There are the following collaterals for liabilities to banks:  

• The respective machines financed. 

• A kEUR 4,000 land charge entered for plant 3. 

Trade payables have been collateralised through suppliers’ customary retention of title. As in the 
prior year, liabilities to affiliated companies result from trade. 

Other financial commitments as at 31 Mar. 2021: 

31 Mar. 2021 

Total 

Of which with a residual term of 

up to 1 year 

between  
1 and  

5 years 
more than 

5 years 
kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR 

Rental agreements and leases 409 116 293 -

Notes to off-balance-sheet transactions 

Operating lease Purpose Lowering of cash outflow on account of 
reduction in capital investment volume 

Risks Charge of rentals during 
the contract term of up to 5 years 

Advantages Modernisation of machinery and  
office equipment without appropriating  
investment funds 

Consignment stock 
agreements Purpose Optimum handling of sales transactions 

Risks None 
 Advantages Increase in customer satisfaction 

Outsourcing of operational 
functions (legal function) Purpose Optimised addressing of imminent 

litigation 
Risks Timely availability of external 

legal advice by lawyers ensured 
Advantages Cost saving in comparison with maintenance 

of internal legal function 

Overall, the financial effects are immaterial. 
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Notes to the statement of profit and loss

Revenue 2020/2021 2019/2020 
kEUR kEUR 

Aluminium pressure die casting 36,886 35,988 
Zinc pressure die casting 189 261 
Moulds 5,805 11,989 
Other 404 444 

43,284 48,682 
Sales deductions -121 -46 

43,163 48,636 

Revenue is almost exclusively realised in Germany.

Other revenue mainly relates to income from scrap sales. 

Other disclosures 

Number of employees 

The average headcount during the reporting year was: 

2020/2021 2019/2020 
Industrial 
employees 165 168 
Salaried 
employees 51 55 

216 223 
Apprentices 9 10 

225 233 
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Management 

In the reporting year, management functions were performed by: 

 Mr Rinze Dijkstra  

 Mr Massimo Venuti (Managing Director Endurance Overseas Srl., Italy)  

In accordance with Sec. 286 (4) HGB, the Company did not disclose the remuneration of the 
managing directors. 

Advisory board 

The members of the advisory board are: 

 Mr Anurang Jain – Managing Director Endurance Technologies Limited, Aurangabad/India 

The total emoluments paid to the advisory board for the financial year 2020/2021 amounted to 
kEUR 0. 

Audit and consulting fees 

The total fees charged by the auditors of the annual financial statements for the reporting year 
amount to: 

kEUR 

Audit services 27 

Other assurance services 34 

Tax consultancy 9 

Total 70 
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Related party transactions 

Apart from the usual trade relationships, there have been no further related party transactions. 

Group affiliation 

The Company is included in the consolidated financial statements of Endurance Technologies 
Limited, Aurangabad/India, which prepares the consolidated financial statements for the smallest 
and largest group of consolidated entities. These consolidated financial statements are disclosed 
at the place of the parent company. 

Subsequent events 

There were no major post-balance-sheet-date events which have been taken into account neither 
in the statement of profit and loss nor in the balance sheet. 

Proposed appropriation of profits 

Management proposes (in conformity with the advisory board) to carry forward onto new account 
the profit for the year of EUR 2,040,851.24.   

Massenbachhausen/Germany, 12 May 2021 

– The General Management – 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To Endurance Amann GmbH, Massenbachhausen/Germany 

Audit Opinions 

We have audited the annual financial statements of Endurance Amann GmbH, Massenbachhausen/Germany, 

which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 March 2021, and the statement of profit and loss for the financial year 

from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021, and the notes to the financial statements, including the presentation of the 

recognition and measurement policies. In addition, we have audited the management report of Endurance 

Amann GmbH, Massenbachhausen/Germany, for the financial year from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021. 

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit, 

the accompanying annual financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the requirements of Ger-

man commercial law applicable to business corporations and give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities 

and financial position of the Company as at 31 March 2021 and of its financial performance for the financial 

year from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 in compliance with German Legally Required Accounting Principles, 

and 

the accompanying management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Company’s position. 

In all material respects, this management report is consistent with the annual financial statements, complies 

with German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future develop-

ment. 

Pursuant to Section 322 (3) sentence 1 German Commercial Code (HGB), we declare that our audit has not led 

to any reservations relating to the legal compliance of the annual financial statements and of the management 

report. 

Basis for the Audit Opinions 

We conducted our audit of the annual financial statements and of the management report in accordance with 

Section 317 HGB and in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits 

promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW). Our responsibilities under those requirements and prin-

ciples are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Annual Financial Statements 

and of the Management Report” section of our auditor’s report. We are independent of the Company in accord-

ance with the requirements of German commercial and professional law, and we have fulfilled our other German 

professional responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions on the annual financial statements 

and on the management report. 

Responsibilities of the Executive Directors for the Annual Financial Statements and the Management Report 

The executive directors are responsible for the preparation of the annual financial statements that comply, in all 

material respects, with the requirements of German commercial law applicable to business corporations and 

that the annual financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and fi-

nancial performance of the Company in compliance with German Legally Required Accounting Principles. In ad-

dition, the executive directors are responsible for such internal control as they, in accordance with German Le-

gally Required Accounting Principles, have determined necessary to enable the preparation of annual financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the annual financial statements, the executive directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. They also have the responsibility for disclosing, as applicable, matters 

related to going concern. In addition, they are responsible for financial reporting based on the going concern 

basis of accounting, provided no actual or legal circumstances conflict therewith. 

Furthermore, the executive directors are responsible for the preparation of the management report that as a 

whole provides an appropriate view of the Company’s position and is, in all material respects, consistent with 

the annual financial statements, complies with German legal requirements, and appropriately presents the op-

portunities and risks of future development. In addition, the executive directors are responsible for such arrange-

ments and measures (systems) as they have considered necessary to enable the preparation of a management 

report that is in accordance with the applicable German legal requirements, and to be able to provide sufficient 

appropriate evidence for the assertions in the management report. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Annual Financial Statements and of the Management Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether the management report as a whole 

provides an appropriate view of the Company’s position and, in all material respects, is consistent with the annual 

financial statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit, complies with the German legal requirements and 

appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development, as well as to issue an auditor’s report 

that includes our audit opinions on the annual financial statements and on the management report. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with Section 317 HGB and in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement 

Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always detect a material misstatement. Mis-

statements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 

could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual 

financial statements and this management report. 

We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also 

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial statements and of the manage-

ment report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 

and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. The risk 

of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 

fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 

controls. 

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the annual financial statements and of 

arrangements and measures relevant to the audit of the management report in order to design audit proce-

dures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an audit opinion on 

the effectiveness of these systems of the Company. 
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evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the executive directors and the reasonableness 

of estimates made by the executive directors and related disclosures. 

conclude on the appropriateness of the executive directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 

that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 

a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor’s report to the related disclo-

sures in the annual financial statements and in the management report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 

to modify our respective audit opinions. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 

date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to be 

able to continue as a going concern. 

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the annual financial statements present the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that the annual financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial 

position and financial performance of the Company in compliance with German Legally Required Accounting 

Principles. 

evaluate the consistency of the management report with the annual financial statements, its conformity with 

German law, and the view of the Company’s position it provides. 

perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by the executive directors in the man-

agement report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in particular, the signifi-

cant assumptions used by the executive directors as a basis for the prospective information, and evaluate the 

proper derivation of the prospective information from these assumptions. We do not express a separate audit 

opinion on the prospective information and on the assumptions used as a basis. There is a substantial una-

voidable risk that future events will differ materially from the prospective information. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 

identify during our audit. 

Mannheim/Germany, 17 May 2021 

Deloitte GmbH 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

 Signed: Steffen Schmidt Signed: Michael Harst 

 Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer 

 (German Public Auditor) (German Public Auditor) 
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[Translator's notes are in square brackets]

General Engagement Terms
for

Wirtschaftsprüfer and Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaften
[German Public Auditors and Public Audit Firms]

as of January 1, 2017

1. Scope of application

(1) These engagement terms apply to contracts between German Public 
Auditors (Wirtschaftsprüfer) or German Public Audit Firms
(Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaften) – hereinafter collectively referred to as 
”German Public Auditors” – and their engaging parties for assurance 
services, tax advisory services, advice on business matters and other 
engagements except as otherwise agreed in writing or prescribed by a
mandatory rule.

(2) Third parties may derive claims from contracts between German Public 
Auditors and engaging parties only when this is expressly agreed or results 
from mandatory rules prescribed by law. In relation to such claims, these 
engagement terms also apply to these third parties. 

2. Scope and execution of the engagement

(1) Object of the engagement is the agreed service – not a particular 
economic result. The engagement will be performed in accordance with the 
German Principles of Proper Professional Conduct (Grundsätze ord-
nungsmäßiger Berufsausübung). The German Public Auditor does not 
assume any management functions in connection with his services. The
German Public Auditor is not responsible for the use or implementation of 
the results of his services. The German Public Auditor is entitled to make 
use of competent persons to conduct the engagement.

(2) Except for assurance engagements (betriebswirtschaftliche Prüfungen),
the consideration of foreign law requires an express written agreement.

(3) If circumstances or the legal situation change subsequent to the release 
of the final professional statement, the German Public Auditor is not obli-
gated to refer the engaging party to changes or any consequences result-
ing therefrom.

3. The obligations of the engaging party to cooperate

(1) The engaging party shall ensure that all documents and further infor-
mation necessary for the performance of the engagement are provided to 
the German Public Auditor on a timely basis, and that he is informed of all 
events and circumstances that may be of significance to the performance 
of the engagement. This also applies to those documents and further 
information, events and circumstances that first become known during the 
German Public Auditor’s work. The engaging party will also designate 
suitable persons to provide information.

(2) Upon the request of the German Public Auditor, the engaging party 
shall confirm the completeness of the documents and further information 
provided as well as the explanations and statements, in a written statement 
drafted by the German Public Auditor.

4. Ensuring independence

(1) The engaging party shall refrain from anything that endangers the 
independence of the German Public Auditor’s staff. This applies throughout 
the term of the engagement, and in particular to offers of employment or to 
assume an executive or non-executive role, and to offers to accept en-
gagements on their own behalf.

(2) Were the performance of the engagement to impair the independence 
of the German Public Auditor, of related firms, firms within his network, or 
such firms associated with him, to which the independence requirements 
apply in the same way as to the German Public Auditor in other engage-
ment relationships, the German Public Auditor is entitled to terminate the 
engagement for good cause.

5. Reporting and oral information

To the extent that the German Public Auditor is required to present results 
in writing as part of the work in executing the engagement, only that written 
work is authoritative. Drafts are non-binding. Except as otherwise agreed, 
oral statements and explanations by the German Public Auditor are binding 
only when they are confirmed in writing. Statements and information of the 
German Public Auditor outside of the engagement are always non-binding.

6. Distribution of a German Public Auditor‘s professional statement

(1) The distribution to a third party of professional statements of the Ger-
man Public Auditor (results of work or extracts of the results of work wheth-
er in draft or in a final version) or information about the German Public 
Auditor acting for the engaging party requires the German Public Auditor’s 
written consent, unless the engaging party is obligated to distribute or 
inform due to law or a regulatory requirement.

(2) The use by the engaging party for promotional purposes of the German
Public Auditor’s professional statements and of information about the 
German Public Auditor acting for the engaging party is prohibited.

7. Deficiency rectification

(1) In case there are any deficiencies, the engaging party is entitled to 
specific subsequent performance by the German Public Auditor. The 
engaging party may reduce the fees or cancel the contract for failure of 
such subsequent performance, for subsequent non-performance or unjusti-
fied refusal to perform subsequently, or for unconscionability or impossibil-
ity of subsequent performance. If the engagement was not commissioned 
by a consumer, the engaging party may only cancel the contract due to a 
deficiency if the service rendered is not relevant to him due to failure of 
subsequent performance, to subsequent non-performance, to unconscion-
ability or impossibility of subsequent performance. No. 9 applies to the 
extent that further claims for damages exist.

(2) The engaging party must assert a claim for the rectification of deficien-
cies in writing (Textform) [Translators Note: The German term “Textform” 
means in written form, but without requiring a signature] without delay. 
Claims pursuant to paragraph 1 not arising from an intentional act expire
after one year subsequent to the commencement of the time limit under the 
statute of limitations.

(3) Apparent deficiencies, such as clerical errors, arithmetical errors and 
deficiencies associated with technicalities contained in a German Public 
Auditor’s professional statement (long-form reports, expert opinions etc.) 
may be corrected – also versus third parties – by the German Public 
Auditor at any time. Misstatements which may call into question the results 
contained in a German Public Auditor’s professional statement entitle the 
German Public Auditor to withdraw such statement – also versus third 
parties. In such cases the German Public Auditor should first hear the 
engaging party, if practicable.

8. Confidentiality towards third parties, and data protection

(1) Pursuant to the law (§ [Article] 323 Abs 1 [paragraph 1] HGB [German 
Commercial Code: Handelsgesetzbuch], § 43 WPO [German Law regulat-
ing the Profession of Wirtschaftsprüfer: Wirtschaftsprüferordnung], § 203 
StGB [German Criminal Code: Strafgesetzbuch]) the German Public 
Auditor is obligated to maintain confidentiality regarding facts and circum-
stances confided to him or of which he becomes aware in the course of his 
professional work, unless the engaging party releases him from this confi-
dentiality obligation.

(2) When processing personal data, the German Public Auditor will observe
national and European legal provisions on data protection.

9. Liability

(1) For legally required services by German Public Auditors, in particular 
audits, the respective legal limitations of liability, in particular the limitation 
of liability pursuant to § 323 Abs. 2 HGB, apply.

(2) Insofar neither a statutory limitation of liability is applicable, nor an 
individual contractual limitation of liability exists, the liability of the German 
Public Auditor for claims for damages of any other kind, except for dam-
ages resulting from injury to life, body or health as well as for damages that 
constitute a duty of replacement by a producer pursuant to § 1 ProdHaftG
[German Product Liability Act: Produkthaftungsgesetz], for an individual 
case of damages caused by negligence is limited to € 4 million pursuant to 
§ 54 a Abs. 1 Nr. 2 WPO.

(3) The German Public Auditor is entitled to invoke demurs and defenses
based on the contractual relationship with the engaging party also towards 
third parties.
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(4) When multiple claimants assert a claim for damages arising from an
existing contractual relationship with the German Public Auditor due to the
German Public Auditor’s negligent breach of duty, the maximum amount 
stipulated in paragraph 2 applies to the respective claims of all claimants 
collectively.

(5) An individual case of damages within the meaning of paragraph 2 also 
exists in relation to a uniform damage arising from a number of breaches of 
duty. The individual case of damages encompasses all consequences from 
a breach of duty regardless of whether the damages occurred in one year 
or in a number of successive years. In this case, multiple acts or omissions 
based on the same source of error or on a source of error of an equivalent 
nature are deemed to be a single breach of duty if the matters in question 
are legally or economically connected to one another. In this event the 
claim against the German Public Auditor is limited to € 5 million. The 
limitation to the fivefold of the minimum amount insured does not apply to 
compulsory audits required by law.

(6) A claim for damages expires if a suit is not filed within six months 
subsequent to the written refusal of acceptance of the indemnity and the 
engaging party has been informed of this consequence. This does not 
apply to claims for damages resulting from scienter, a culpable injury to life, 
body or health as well as for damages that constitute a liability for replace-
ment by a producer pursuant to § 1 ProdHaftG. The right to invoke a plea 
of the statute of limitations remains unaffected.

10. Supplementary provisions for audit engagements

(1) If the engaging party subsequently amends the financial statements or 
management report audited by a German Public Auditor and accompanied 
by an auditor's report, he may no longer use this auditor’s report.

If the German Public Auditor has not issued an auditor's report, a reference 
to the audit conducted by the German Public Auditor in the management 
report or any other public reference is permitted only with the German 
Public Auditor’s written consent and with a wording authorized by him.

(2) lf the German Public Auditor revokes the auditor's report, it may no 
longer be used. lf the engaging party has already made use of the auditor's 
report, then upon the request of the German Public Auditor he must give 
notification of the revocation.

(3) The engaging party has a right to five official copies of the report. 
Additional official copies will be charged separately.

11. Supplementary provisions for assistance in tax matters 

(1) When advising on an individual tax issue as well as when providing 
ongoing tax advice, the German Public Auditor is entitled to use as a 
correct and complete basis the facts provided by the engaging party –
especially numerical disclosures; this also applies to bookkeeping en-
gagements. Nevertheless, he is obligated to indicate to the engaging party 
any errors he has identified.

(2) The tax advisory engagement does not encompass procedures required 
to observe deadlines, unless the German Public Auditor has explicitly 
accepted a corresponding engagement. In this case the engaging party 
must provide the German Public Auditor with all documents required to 
observe deadlines – in particular tax assessments – on such a timely basis
that the German Public Auditor has an appropriate lead time.

(3) Except as agreed otherwise in writing, ongoing tax advice encompasses 
the following work during the contract period:

a) preparation of annual tax returns for income tax, corporate tax and 
business tax, as well as wealth tax returns, namely on the basis of the 
annual financial statements, and on other schedules and evidence 
documents required for the taxation, to be provided by the engaging 
party

b) examination of tax assessments in relation to the taxes referred to in 
(a)

c) negotiations with tax authorities in connection with the returns and 
assessments mentioned in (a) and (b)

d) support in tax audits and evaluation of the results of tax audits with 
respect to the taxes referred to in (a)

e) participation in petition or protest and appeal procedures with respect 
to the taxes mentioned in (a).

In the aforementioned tasks the German Public Auditor takes into account 
material published legal decisions and administrative interpretations.

(4) If the German Public auditor receives a fixed fee for ongoing tax advice, 
the work mentioned under paragraph 3 (d) and (e) is to be remunerated 
separately, except as agreed otherwise in writing.

(5) Insofar the German Public Auditor is also a German Tax Advisor and 
the German Tax Advice Remuneration Regulation (Steuerberatungsvergü-
tungsverordnung) is to be applied to calculate the remuneration, a greater 
or lesser remuneration than the legal default remuneration can be agreed 
in writing (Textform).

(6) Work relating to special individual issues for income tax, corporate tax, 
business tax, valuation assessments for property units, wealth tax, as well 
as all issues in relation to sales tax, payroll tax, other taxes and dues 
requires a separate engagement. This also applies to:

a) work on non-recurring tax matters, e.g. in the field of estate tax, capital 
transactions tax, and real estate sales tax;

b) support and representation in proceedings before tax and administra-
tive courts and in criminal tax matters;

c) advisory work and work related to expert opinions in connection with 
changes in legal form and other re-organizations, capital increases 
and reductions, insolvency related business reorganizations, admis-
sion and retirement of owners, sale of a business, liquidations and the 
like, and

d) support in complying with disclosure and documentation obligations.

(7) To the extent that the preparation of the annual sales tax return is 
undertaken as additional work, this includes neither the review of any 
special accounting prerequisites nor the issue as to whether all potential 
sales tax allowances have been identified. No guarantee is given for the 
complete compilation of documents to claim the input tax credit.

12. Electronic communication 

Communication between the German Public Auditor and the engaging 
party may be via e-mail. In the event that the engaging party does not wish 
to communicate via e-mail or sets special security requirements, such as 
the encryption of e-mails, the engaging party will inform the German Public 
Auditor in writing (Textform) accordingly.

13. Remuneration

(1) In addition to his claims for fees, the German Public Auditor is entitled to 
claim reimbursement of his expenses; sales tax will be billed additionally.
He may claim appropriate advances on remuneration and reimbursement 
of expenses and may make the delivery of his services dependent upon the 
complete satisfaction of his claims. Multiple engaging parties are jointly and 
severally liable.

(2) If the engaging party is not a consumer, then a set-off against the
German Public Auditor’s claims for remuneration and reimbursement of 
expenses is admissible only for undisputed claims or claims determined to 
be legally binding.

14. Dispute Settlement

The German Public Auditor is not prepared to participate in dispute settle-
ment procedures before a consumer arbitration board (Verbraucherschlich-
tungsstelle) within the meaning of § 2 of the German Act on Consumer 
Dispute Settlements (Verbraucherstreitbeilegungsgesetz).

15. Applicable law 

The contract, the performance of the services and all claims resulting 
therefrom are exclusively governed by German law.
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Allgemeine Auftragsbedingungen
für

Wirtschaftsprüfer und Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaften
vom 1. Januar 2017

1. Geltungsbereich

(1) Die Auftragsbedingungen gelten für Verträge zwischen Wirtschaftsprüfern 
oder Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaften (im Nachstehenden zusammenfas-
send „Wirtschaftsprüfer“ genannt) und ihren Auftraggebern über Prüfungen, 
Steuerberatung, Beratungen in wirtschaftlichen Angelegenheiten und sonsti-
ge Aufträge, soweit nicht etwas anderes ausdrücklich schriftlich vereinbart 
oder gesetzlich zwingend vorgeschrieben ist.

(2) Dritte können nur dann Ansprüche aus dem Vertrag zwischen Wirt-
schaftsprüfer und Auftraggeber herleiten, wenn dies ausdrücklich vereinbart 
ist oder sich aus zwingenden gesetzlichen Regelungen ergibt. Im Hinblick auf 
solche Ansprüche gelten diese Auftragsbedingungen auch diesen Dritten 
gegenüber.

2. Umfang und Ausführung des Auftrags

(1) Gegenstand des Auftrags ist die vereinbarte Leistung, nicht ein bestimm-
ter wirtschaftlicher Erfolg. Der Auftrag wird nach den Grundsätzen ordnungs-
mäßiger Berufsausübung ausgeführt. Der Wirtschaftsprüfer übernimmt im 
Zusammenhang mit seinen Leistungen keine Aufgaben der Geschäftsfüh-
rung. Der Wirtschaftsprüfer ist für die Nutzung oder Umsetzung der Ergebnis-
se seiner Leistungen nicht verantwortlich. Der Wirtschaftsprüfer ist berechtigt,
sich zur Durchführung des Auftrags sachverständiger Personen zu bedienen.

(2) Die Berücksichtigung ausländischen Rechts bedarf – außer bei betriebs-
wirtschaftlichen Prüfungen – der ausdrücklichen schriftlichen Vereinbarung.

(3) Ändert sich die Sach- oder Rechtslage nach Abgabe der abschließenden 
beruflichen Äußerung, so ist der Wirtschaftsprüfer nicht verpflichtet, den 
Auftraggeber auf Änderungen oder sich daraus ergebende Folgerungen 
hinzuweisen.

3. Mitwirkungspflichten des Auftraggebers

(1) Der Auftraggeber hat dafür zu sorgen, dass dem Wirtschaftsprüfer alle für 
die Ausführung des Auftrags notwendigen Unterlagen und weiteren Informa-
tionen rechtzeitig übermittelt werden und ihm von allen Vorgängen und 
Umständen Kenntnis gegeben wird, die für die Ausführung des Auftrags von 
Bedeutung sein können. Dies gilt auch für die Unterlagen und weiteren 
Informationen, Vorgänge und Umstände, die erst während der Tätigkeit des 
Wirtschaftsprüfers bekannt werden. Der Auftraggeber wird dem Wirtschafts-
prüfer geeignete Auskunftspersonen benennen. 

(2) Auf Verlangen des Wirtschaftsprüfers hat der Auftraggeber die Vollstän-
digkeit der vorgelegten Unterlagen und der weiteren Informationen sowie der 
gegebenen Auskünfte und Erklärungen in einer vom Wirtschaftsprüfer formu-
lierten schriftlichen Erklärung zu bestätigen.

4. Sicherung der Unabhängigkeit

(1) Der Auftraggeber hat alles zu unterlassen, was die Unabhängigkeit der 
Mitarbeiter des Wirtschaftsprüfers gefährdet. Dies gilt für die Dauer des 
Auftragsverhältnisses insbesondere für Angebote auf Anstellung oder Über-
nahme von Organfunktionen und für Angebote, Aufträge auf eigene Rech-
nung zu übernehmen.

(2) Sollte die Durchführung des Auftrags die Unabhängigkeit des Wirtschafts-
prüfers, die der mit ihm verbundenen Unternehmen, seiner Netzwerkunter-
nehmen oder solcher mit ihm assoziierten Unternehmen, auf die die Unab-
hängigkeitsvorschriften in gleicher Weise Anwendung finden wie auf den 
Wirtschaftsprüfer, in anderen Auftragsverhältnissen beeinträchtigen, ist der 
Wirtschaftsprüfer zur außerordentlichen Kündigung des Auftrags berechtigt.

5. Berichterstattung und mündliche Auskünfte

Soweit der Wirtschaftsprüfer Ergebnisse im Rahmen der Bearbeitung des 
Auftrags schriftlich darzustellen hat, ist alleine diese schriftliche Darstellung 
maßgebend. Entwürfe schriftlicher Darstellungen sind unverbindlich. Sofern 
nicht anders vereinbart, sind mündliche Erklärungen und Auskünfte des 
Wirtschaftsprüfers nur dann verbindlich, wenn sie schriftlich bestätigt werden. 
Erklärungen und Auskünfte des Wirtschaftsprüfers außerhalb des erteilten 
Auftrags sind stets unverbindlich.

6. Weitergabe einer beruflichen Äußerung des Wirtschaftsprüfers

(1) Die Weitergabe beruflicher Äußerungen des Wirtschaftsprüfers (Arbeits-
ergebnisse oder Auszüge von Arbeitsergebnissen – sei es im Entwurf oder in 
der Endfassung) oder die Information über das Tätigwerden des Wirtschafts-
prüfers für den Auftraggeber an einen Dritten bedarf der schriftlichen Zustim-
mung des Wirtschaftsprüfers, es sei denn, der Auftraggeber ist zur Weiter-
gabe oder Information aufgrund eines Gesetzes oder einer behördlichen 
Anordnung verpflichtet.

(2) Die Verwendung beruflicher Äußerungen des Wirtschaftsprüfers und die 
Information über das Tätigwerden des Wirtschaftsprüfers für den Auftragge-
ber zu Werbezwecken durch den Auftraggeber sind unzulässig.

7. Mängelbeseitigung

(1) Bei etwaigen Mängeln hat der Auftraggeber Anspruch auf Nacherfüllung 
durch den Wirtschaftsprüfer. Nur bei Fehlschlagen, Unterlassen bzw. unbe-
rechtigter Verweigerung, Unzumutbarkeit oder Unmöglichkeit der Nacherfül-
lung kann er die Vergütung mindern oder vom Vertrag zurücktreten; ist der 
Auftrag nicht von einem Verbraucher erteilt worden, so kann der Auftraggeber 
wegen eines Mangels nur dann vom Vertrag zurücktreten, wenn die erbrach-
te Leistung wegen Fehlschlagens, Unterlassung, Unzumutbarkeit oder 
Unmöglichkeit der Nacherfüllung für ihn ohne Interesse ist. Soweit darüber 
hinaus Schadensersatzansprüche bestehen, gilt Nr. 9. 

(2) Der Anspruch auf Beseitigung von Mängeln muss vom Auftraggeber 
unverzüglich in Textform geltend gemacht werden. Ansprüche nach Abs. 1, 
die nicht auf einer vorsätzlichen Handlung beruhen, verjähren nach Ablauf 
eines Jahres ab dem gesetzlichen Verjährungsbeginn.

(3) Offenbare Unrichtigkeiten, wie z.B. Schreibfehler, Rechenfehler und 
formelle Mängel, die in einer beruflichen Äußerung (Bericht, Gutachten und 
dgl.) des Wirtschaftsprüfers enthalten sind, können jederzeit vom Wirt-
schaftsprüfer auch Dritten gegenüber berichtigt werden. Unrichtigkeiten, die 
geeignet sind, in der beruflichen Äußerung des Wirtschaftsprüfers enthaltene 
Ergebnisse infrage zu stellen, berechtigen diesen, die Äußerung auch Dritten 
gegenüber zurückzunehmen. In den vorgenannten Fällen ist der Auftragge-
ber vom Wirtschaftsprüfer tunlichst vorher zu hören. 

8. Schweigepflicht gegenüber Dritten, Datenschutz

(1) Der Wirtschaftsprüfer ist nach Maßgabe der Gesetze (§ 323 Abs. 1 HGB, 
§ 43 WPO, § 203 StGB) verpflichtet, über Tatsachen und Umstände, die ihm
bei seiner Berufstätigkeit anvertraut oder bekannt werden, Stillschweigen zu 
bewahren, es sei denn, dass der Auftraggeber ihn von dieser Schweigepflicht 
entbindet.

(2) Der Wirtschaftsprüfer wird bei der Verarbeitung von personenbezogenen 
Daten die nationalen und europarechtlichen Regelungen zum Datenschutz 
beachten.

9. Haftung

(1) Für gesetzlich vorgeschriebene Leistungen des Wirtschaftsprüfers, insbe-
sondere Prüfungen, gelten die jeweils anzuwendenden gesetzlichen Haf-
tungsbeschränkungen, insbesondere die Haftungsbeschränkung des § 323 
Abs. 2 HGB. 

(2) Sofern weder eine gesetzliche Haftungsbeschränkung Anwendung findet
noch eine einzelvertragliche Haftungsbeschränkung besteht, ist die Haftung 
des Wirtschaftsprüfers für Schadensersatzansprüche jeder Art, mit Ausnah-
me von Schäden aus der Verletzung von Leben, Körper und Gesundheit, 
sowie von Schäden, die eine Ersatzpflicht des Herstellers nach § 1 
ProdHaftG begründen, bei einem fahrlässig verursachten einzelnen Scha-
densfall gemäß § 54a Abs. 1 Nr. 2 WPO auf 4 Mio. € beschränkt.

(3) Einreden und Einwendungen aus dem Vertragsverhältnis mit dem Auf-
traggeber stehen dem Wirtschaftsprüfer auch gegenüber Dritten zu.

(4) Leiten mehrere Anspruchsteller aus dem mit dem Wirtschaftsprüfer 
bestehenden Vertragsverhältnis Ansprüche aus einer fahrlässigen Pflichtver-
letzung des Wirtschaftsprüfers her, gilt der in Abs. 2 genannte Höchstbetrag 
für die betreffenden Ansprüche aller Anspruchsteller insgesamt.
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(5) Ein einzelner Schadensfall im Sinne von Abs. 2 ist auch bezüglich eines 
aus mehreren Pflichtverletzungen stammenden einheitlichen Schadens 
gegeben. Der einzelne Schadensfall umfasst sämtliche Folgen einer Pflicht-
verletzung ohne Rücksicht darauf, ob Schäden in einem oder in mehreren 
aufeinanderfolgenden Jahren entstanden sind. Dabei gilt mehrfaches auf
gleicher oder gleichartiger Fehlerquelle beruhendes Tun oder Unterlassen als 
einheitliche Pflichtverletzung, wenn die betreffenden Angelegenheiten mitei-
nander in rechtlichem oder wirtschaftlichem Zusammenhang stehen. In 
diesem Fall kann der Wirtschaftsprüfer nur bis zur Höhe von 5 Mio. € in 
Anspruch genommen werden. Die Begrenzung auf das Fünffache der Min-
destversicherungssumme gilt nicht bei gesetzlich vorgeschriebenen Pflicht-
prüfungen.

(6) Ein Schadensersatzanspruch erlischt, wenn nicht innerhalb von sechs 
Monaten nach der schriftlichen Ablehnung der Ersatzleistung Klage erhoben 
wird und der Auftraggeber auf diese Folge hingewiesen wurde. Dies gilt nicht 
für Schadensersatzansprüche, die auf vorsätzliches Verhalten zurückzufüh-
ren sind, sowie bei einer schuldhaften Verletzung von Leben, Körper oder 
Gesundheit sowie bei Schäden, die eine Ersatzpflicht des Herstellers nach § 
1 ProdHaftG begründen. Das Recht, die Einrede der Verjährung geltend zu 
machen, bleibt unberührt.

10. Ergänzende Bestimmungen für Prüfungsaufträge

(1) Ändert der Auftraggeber nachträglich den durch den Wirtschaftsprüfer 
geprüften und mit einem Bestätigungsvermerk versehenen Abschluss oder 
Lagebericht, darf er diesen Bestätigungsvermerk nicht weiterverwenden.

Hat der Wirtschaftsprüfer einen Bestätigungsvermerk nicht erteilt, so ist ein 
Hinweis auf die durch den Wirtschaftsprüfer durchgeführte Prüfung im Lage-
bericht oder an anderer für die Öffentlichkeit bestimmter Stelle nur mit schrift-
licher Einwilligung des Wirtschaftsprüfers und mit dem von ihm genehmigten 
Wortlaut zulässig.

(2) Widerruft der Wirtschaftsprüfer den Bestätigungsvermerk, so darf der 
Bestätigungsvermerk nicht weiterverwendet werden. Hat der Auftraggeber 
den Bestätigungsvermerk bereits verwendet, so hat er auf Verlangen des 
Wirtschaftsprüfers den Widerruf bekanntzugeben.

(3) Der Auftraggeber hat Anspruch auf fünf Berichtsausfertigungen. Weitere 
Ausfertigungen werden besonders in Rechnung gestellt.

11. Ergänzende Bestimmungen für Hilfeleistung in Steuersachen

(1) Der Wirtschaftsprüfer ist berechtigt, sowohl bei der Beratung in steuerli-
chen Einzelfragen als auch im Falle der Dauerberatung die vom Auftraggeber 
genannten Tatsachen, insbesondere Zahlenangaben, als richtig und vollstän-
dig zugrunde zu legen; dies gilt auch für Buchführungsaufträge. Er hat jedoch 
den Auftraggeber auf von ihm festgestellte Unrichtigkeiten hinzuweisen.

(2) Der Steuerberatungsauftrag umfasst nicht die zur Wahrung von Fristen 
erforderlichen Handlungen, es sei denn, dass der Wirtschaftsprüfer hierzu 
ausdrücklich den Auftrag übernommen hat. In diesem Fall hat der Auftragge-
ber dem Wirtschaftsprüfer alle für die Wahrung von Fristen wesentlichen 
Unterlagen, insbesondere Steuerbescheide, so rechtzeitig vorzulegen, dass 
dem Wirtschaftsprüfer eine angemessene Bearbeitungszeit zur Verfügung 
steht.

(3) Mangels einer anderweitigen schriftlichen Vereinbarung umfasst die 
laufende Steuerberatung folgende, in die Vertragsdauer fallenden Tätigkei-
ten:

a) Ausarbeitung der Jahressteuererklärungen für die Einkommensteuer, 
Körperschaftsteuer und Gewerbesteuer sowie der Vermögensteuererklä-
rungen, und zwar auf Grund der vom Auftraggeber vorzulegenden Jahres-
abschlüsse und sonstiger für die Besteuerung erforderlicher Aufstellungen 
und Nachweise

b) Nachprüfung von Steuerbescheiden zu den unter a) genannten Steuern

c) Verhandlungen mit den Finanzbehörden im Zusammenhang mit den 
unter a) und b) genannten Erklärungen und Bescheiden

d) Mitwirkung bei Betriebsprüfungen und Auswertung der Ergebnisse von 
Betriebsprüfungen hinsichtlich der unter a) genannten Steuern

e) Mitwirkung in Einspruchs- und Beschwerdeverfahren hinsichtlich der 
unter a) genannten Steuern.

Der Wirtschaftsprüfer berücksichtigt bei den vorgenannten Aufgaben die 
wesentliche veröffentlichte Rechtsprechung und Verwaltungsauffassung.

(4) Erhält der Wirtschaftsprüfer für die laufende Steuerberatung ein Pau-
schalhonorar, so sind mangels anderweitiger schriftlicher Vereinbarungen die 
unter Abs. 3 Buchst. d) und e) genannten Tätigkeiten gesondert zu honorie-
ren.

(5) Sofern der Wirtschaftsprüfer auch Steuerberater ist und die Steuerbera-
tervergütungsverordnung für die Bemessung der Vergütung anzuwenden ist,
kann eine höhere oder niedrigere als die gesetzliche Vergütung in Textform 
vereinbart werden.

(6) Die Bearbeitung besonderer Einzelfragen der Einkommensteuer, Körper-
schaftsteuer, Gewerbesteuer, Einheitsbewertung und Vermögensteuer sowie 
aller Fragen der Umsatzsteuer, Lohnsteuer, sonstigen Steuern und Abgaben 
erfolgt auf Grund eines besonderen Auftrags. Dies gilt auch für

a) die Bearbeitung einmalig anfallender Steuerangelegenheiten, z.B. auf 
dem Gebiet der Erbschaftsteuer, Kapitalverkehrsteuer, Grunderwerbsteuer,

b) die Mitwirkung und Vertretung in Verfahren vor den Gerichten der Fi-
nanz- und der Verwaltungsgerichtsbarkeit sowie in Steuerstrafsachen, 

c) die beratende und gutachtliche Tätigkeit im Zusammenhang mit Um-
wandlungen, Kapitalerhöhung und -herabsetzung, Sanierung, Eintritt und 
Ausscheiden eines Gesellschafters, Betriebsveräußerung, Liquidation und 
dergleichen und

d) die Unterstützung bei der Erfüllung von Anzeige- und Dokumentations-
pflichten. 

(7) Soweit auch die Ausarbeitung der Umsatzsteuerjahreserklärung als 
zusätzliche Tätigkeit übernommen wird, gehört dazu nicht die Überprüfung 
etwaiger besonderer buchmäßiger Voraussetzungen sowie die Frage, ob alle 
in Betracht kommenden umsatzsteuerrechtlichen Vergünstigungen wahrge-
nommen worden sind. Eine Gewähr für die vollständige Erfassung der Unter-
lagen zur Geltendmachung des Vorsteuerabzugs wird nicht übernommen.  

12. Elektronische Kommunikation

Die Kommunikation zwischen dem Wirtschaftsprüfer und dem Auftraggeber 
kann auch per E-Mail erfolgen. Soweit der Auftraggeber eine Kommunikation 
per E-Mail nicht wünscht oder besondere Sicherheitsanforderungen stellt, wie 
etwa die Verschlüsselung von E-Mails, wird der Auftraggeber den Wirt-
schaftsprüfer entsprechend in Textform informieren.

13. Vergütung

(1) Der Wirtschaftsprüfer hat neben seiner Gebühren- oder Honorarforderung 
Anspruch auf Erstattung seiner Auslagen; die Umsatzsteuer wird zusätzlich 
berechnet. Er kann angemessene Vorschüsse auf Vergütung und Auslagen-
ersatz verlangen und die Auslieferung seiner Leistung von der vollen Befrie-
digung seiner Ansprüche abhängig machen. Mehrere Auftraggeber haften als 
Gesamtschuldner.

(2) Ist der Auftraggeber kein Verbraucher, so ist eine Aufrechnung gegen 
Forderungen des Wirtschaftsprüfers auf Vergütung und Auslagenersatz nur 
mit unbestrittenen oder rechtskräftig festgestellten Forderungen zulässig.

14. Streitschlichtungen  

Der Wirtschaftsprüfer ist nicht bereit, an Streitbeilegungsverfahren vor einer 
Verbraucherschlichtungsstelle im Sinne des § 2 des Verbraucherstreitbeile-
gungsgesetzes teilzunehmen.

15. Anzuwendendes Recht

Für den Auftrag, seine Durchführung und die sich hieraus ergebenden An-
sprüche gilt nur deutsches Recht.

Lizenziert für/Licensed to: Deloitte GmbH | 4305936
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ENDURANCE Group (India) ENDURANCE 
TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED (India), whose shares have been listed on the National Stock Exchange (NSE) and the 
Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) of India since October 2016.
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RISKS RELATED TO THE GENERAL STATE  OF THE ECONOMY

RISKS RELATED TO THE SECTOR IN WHICH THE COMPANY OPERATES: 

RISKS RELATED TO THE ABILITY TO CREATE INNOVATIVE PRODUCTS: 

FINANCIAL RISKS: 

26



27



Total 5,000,000 - 5,000,000

Total 1,325,765 2,037,910 (712,145)
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Total 41,433,565 32,310,278 9,123,287

o
o

o
o
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General information on the company
 

Financial statements  
for the year ended March 31st, 2021  

Total intangible assets 3,125,091 3,820,197

Total tangible fixed assets 14,570,852 15,417,303
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Total equity investments 47,812,426 44,236,558

Total receivables 5,000,000 -

Total financial fixed assets 52,812,426 44,236,558

Total fixed assets (B) 70,508,369 63,474,058

Total receivables 5,876,047 5,823,885

Total current financial assets 4,395,565 1,000,000

Total cash and cash equivalents 22,898,440 23,329,776

Total current assets (C) 33,170,052 30,153,661

Total assets 103,796,806 93,740,632
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Total other reserves 5,563,997 5,563,997

Total provisions for risks and charges 1,603,267 1,798,832

Total payables 55,959,725 55,244,757

Total liabilities and quotaholder's equity 103,796,806 93,740,632
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Total other income and revenues 249,881 323,118

Total value of production 8,812,533 10,995,606

Total payroll costs 5,132,514 7,066,282

Total depreciation, amortisation and writedowns 1,552,596 957,424

Total cost of production 7,885,707 9,441,026

Total income from equity investments 7,000,000 4,000,000

Total income other than the above 326,692 19,917

Total other financial income 326,692 19,917

Total interest and other financial charges 225,480 272,521

Total financial income and charges (15+16-17+-17-bis) 7,100,270 3,747,396
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Total revaluations 34,777 29,038

Total writedowns 460,195 -

Total adjustments to financial assets and liabilities (18-19) (425,418) 29,038

Total income taxes for the year, current and deferred (1,873,092) 1,633,617
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1) Income (loss) for the year before income taxes, interest, dividends and gains/losses from disposals 501,407 1,583,618

Total adjustments for non-cash items that had no contra-entry in net working capital 2,023,976 965,717

2)  Cash flow before changes in net working capital 2,525,383 2,549,335

Total changes in net working capital 4,979,077 2,210,133

3) Cash flow after changes in net working capital 7,504,460 4,759,468

Total other adjustments 6,547,733 2,356,629

Cash flow from operating activities (A) 14,052,193 7,116,097

Cash flow from investing activities (B) (8,586,907) (4,819,047)
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Cash flow from financing activities (C) (5,896,622) 21,953

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A ± B ± C) (431,336) 2,319,003

37



 

 

38



 

 

39



 

 

40



 

 

41



 

 

42



 

 

43



 

 

44



 

 

45



 

 

Total changes - (5,475) (600,000) (89,630) - (695,105)
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Total changes (794,708) (50,359) (1,248) (136) (846,451)
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Total 1,000,000 3,395,565 4,395,565

Total 23,329,776 (431,336) 22,898,440
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IINDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 14 OF LEGISLATIVE DECREE No. 39 OF JANUARY 27, 2010

To the Quotaholders of
Endurance Overseas S.r.l.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Endurance Overseas S.r.l. (the “Company”), which comprise
the balance sheet as at March 31, 2021, the statement of income and statement of cash flows for the
year then ended and the explanatory notes.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Company as at March 31, 2021, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with the Italian law governing financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance
with the ethical requirements applicable under Italian law to the audit of the financial statements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Other matters

Pursuant to art. 2497-bis, first paragraph, of the Italian Civil Code, Endurance Overseas S.r.l. has disclosed
that it is subject to management and coordination of its activities by Endurance Technologies Limited
(India) and, therefore, has indicated in the notes to the financial statements the key financial data from
the most recent financial statements of such company. Our opinion on the financial statements of
Endurance Overseas S.r.l. does not extend to such data.

Responsibilities of the Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors for the Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with the Italian law governing financial statements, and, within the terms established by law,
for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless they have identified the existence of the conditions for the
liquidation of the Company or the termination of the business or have no realistic alternatives to such
choices.

The Board of Statutory Auditors is responsible for overseeing, within the terms established by law, the
Company’s financial reporting process.

AAuditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia), we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue
as a going concern.
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Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance, identified at an appropriate level as required by
ISA Italia, regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

RREPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Opinion pursuant to art. 14, paragraph 2 (e) of Legislative Decree 39/10

The Directors of Endurance Overseas S.r.l. are responsible for the preparation of the report on
operations of the Company as at March 31, 2021, including its consistency with the related financial
statements and its compliance with the law.

We have carried out the procedures set forth in the Auditing Standard (SA Italia) n. 720B in order to
express an opinion on the consistency of the report on operations with the financial statements of the
Company as at March 31, 2021 and on its compliance with the law, as well as to make a statement about
any material misstatement.

In our opinion, the report on operations is consistent with the financial statements of Endurance
Overseas S.r.l. as at March 31, 2021 and is prepared in accordance with the law.

With reference to the statement referred to in art. 14, paragraph 2 (e), of Legislative Decree 39/10,
made on the basis of the knowledge and understanding of the entity and of the related context acquired
during the audit, we have nothing to report.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE S.p.A.

Signed by
Giorgio Barbieri
Partner

Turin, Italy
May 18, 2021

This report has been translated into the English language solely for the convenience of international readers.
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RISKS RELATED TO THE GENERAL STATE OF THE ECONOMY

RISKS RELATED TO THE SECTOR IN WHICH THE GROUP OPERATES: 

RISKS RELATED TO THE ABILITY TO CREATE INNOVATIVE PRODUCTS:

FINANCIAL RISKS: 
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COVID-19: Practical precautionary measures introduced to allow activities to continue while safeguarding the 
health of workers 
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Total 803,934 300,756 503,178

Total 7,128,539 5,310,681 1,817,858
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General information on the company
 

Financial statements at 31/03/2021  

Total intangible assets 6,935,662 4,382,741
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Total tangible fixed assets 100,258,622 93,094,189

Total equity investments 4,843 4,819

-

Total receivables 813,188 15,755

Total financial fixed assets 818,031 20,574

Total fixed assets (B) 108,012,315 97,497,504

Total inventories 24,981,634 26,463,828

Total receivables 37,960,654 30,785,255
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Total current financial assets 31,406,015 15,297,153

Total cash and cash equivalents 51,059,053 53,837,305

Total current assets (C) 146,682,356 126,383,541

Total assets 255,489,608 224,285,417

Total other reserves 5,583,394 5,583,394

3,334

Total provisions for risks and charges 6,708,909 9,102,302
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Total payables 149,853,327 137,648,774

Total liabilities and quotaholders' equity 255,489,608 224,285,417

Total other income and revenues 5,006,868 6,098,651

Total value of production 172,110,229 211,582,684
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Total payroll costs 38,062,875 40,223,386

Total depreciation, amortisation and writedowns 19,241,727 22,251,070

Total cost of production 160,614,623 190,966,063

Total income from equity investments - 77

Total financial income from receivables recorded under fixed assets 2,795 11,511

Total income other than the above 442,441 147,765

Total other financial income 445,236 159,276

Total interest and other financial charges 830,208 765,777
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Total financial income and charges (15+16-17+-17-bis) (389,556) (518,060)

Total revaluations 35,827 29,038

Total writedowns 593,738 42,289

Total adjustments to financial assets and liabilities (18-19) (557,911) (13,251)

Total income taxes for the year, current and deferred (2,087,335) 4,319,529

1) Income (loss) for the year before income taxes, interest, dividends and gains/losses from 
disposals 10,337,360 20,602,239
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Total adjustments for non-cash items that had no counterpart in net working capital 21,126,366 23,423,940

2)  Cash flow before changes in net working capital 31,463,726 44,026,179

Total changes in net working capital 5,900,421 (8,158,247)

3) Cash flow after changes in net working capital 37,364,147 35,867,932

Cash flow from operating activities (A) 30,259,765 26,414,895

Cash flow from investing activities (B) (31,970,271) (37,823,520)
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Cash flow from financing activities (C) (1,067,745) 823,263

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A ± B ± C) (2,778,252) (10,585,362)
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ENDURANCE OVERSEAS SRL  
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Businesses consolidated on a line-by-line basis:
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Total changes 5,697 2,568,685 1,516,894 (1,880,000) 323,260 2,985 15,400 2,552,921
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the difference (Euro 832 thousand) arising on first-time consolidation of the equity investment in Haminoea S.r.l. (in 
turn the parent company of Endurance  S.p.A.), subsequently absorbed by the Parent Company Endurance Overseas 
S.r.l. On consolidation, the merger deficit recorded in the financial statements of the Parent Company was eliminated 
as part of the process of determining the net carrying amount of the consolidation difference, pertaining to the actual 
Endurance S.p.A. 
the value (Euro 534 thousand, net of amortization) of the consolidation difference that emerged during the year due to 
the first consolidation of Endurance Adler S.p.A. 

The recoverability of the goodwill, which is amortised on the basis indicated above, is checked annually using the 
Discounted Cash Flows ("DCF") method. Group management has prepared 

confirmed 
that that fair value of the Group's assets exceeds their . 

107



 

 

Total changes (1,155,510) 6,857,822 (446,019) 3,589 2,150,456 7,164,433
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Total equity attributable to the Group

Equity attributable to minority interest

Total equity
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Recognition of difference on consolidation

Distribution of dividends

Effect of accounting for leases under IAS 17

Elimination of intercompany profits

Accounting for intercompany leasehold improvements

TOTAL 48,690,544 3,160,703 36,857,889 12,068,384
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Cost of raw and ancillary materials, consumables and goods for resale and Cost of services 

Lease and rental charges 

Payroll costs 

Depreciation and amortisation 
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IINDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 14 OF LEGISLATIVE DECREE No. 39 OF JANUARY 27, 2010

To the Quotaholders of
Endurance Overseas S.r.l.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Endurance Overseas S.r.l. and its subsidiaries
(the “Endurance Overseas Group” or the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at
March 31, 2021, the consolidated statement of income and statement of cash flows for the year then
ended and the explanatory notes.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Endurance Overseas Group as at March 31, 2021, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with the Italian law governing financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of Endurance
Overseas S.r.l. (the “Company”) in accordance with the ethical requirements applicable under Italian law
to the audit of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of matter

We draw attention to the "Fixed assets" section of the explanatory notes which provides information on
the revaluation carried out by the subsidiary Endurance S.p.A. at March 31, 2021 pursuant to law no.
126/2020 and the related effects on the values of fixed assets, equity and tax payables for the substitute
tax.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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OOther matters

Pursuant to art. 2497-bis, first paragraph, of the Italian Civil Code, Endurance Overseas S.r.l. has disclosed
that it is subject to management and coordination of its activities by Endurance Technologies Limited
(India) and, therefore, has indicated in the notes to the consolidated financial statements the key
financial data from the most recent financial statements of such company. Our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements of the Endurance Overseas Group does not extend to such data.

Responsibilities of the Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance the Italian law governing financial statements and, within the terms
established by law, for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they have identified the existence of the
conditions for the liquidation of the Company or the termination of the business or have no realistic
alternatives to such choices.

The Board of Statutory Auditors is responsible for overseeing, within the terms established by law, the
Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia) will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia), we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
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Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance, identified at an appropriate level as required by
ISA Italia, regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

RREPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Opinion pursuant to art. 14, paragraph 2 (e) of Legislative Decree 39/10

The Directors of Endurance Overseas S.r.l. are responsible for the preparation of the report on
operations of the Endurance Overseas Group as at March 31, 2021, including its consistency with the
related consolidated financial statements and its compliance with the law.

We have carried out the procedures set forth in the Auditing Standard (SA Italia) n. 720B in order to
express an opinion on the consistency of the report on operations with the consolidated financial
statements of the Group as at March 31, 2021 and on its compliance with the law, as well as to make a
statement about any material misstatement.

In our opinion, the report on operations is consistent with the consolidated financial statements of the
Endurance Overseas Group as at March 31, 2021 and is prepared in accordance with the law.
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With reference to the statement referred to in art. 14, paragraph 2 (e), of Legislative Decree 39/10,
made on the basis of the knowledge and understanding of the entity and of the related context acquired
during the audit, we have nothing to report.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE S.p.A.

Signed by
GGiorgio Barbieri
Partner

Turin, Italy
May 26, 2021

This report has been translated into the English language solely for the convenience of international readers.
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ENDURANCE SPA  
Head office: VIA REGIONE POZZO 26 CHIVASSO (TURIN) 
Tax Code, Turin Chamber of Commerce and Turin Companies Register No. 01782370017  
Turin Business Register (REA) no. 518048  
Share capital: € 5,000,000.00 subscribed and fully paid  
VAT Number: 01782370017  
Management control and coordination: ENDURANCE OVERSEAS S.r.l.  
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ENDURANCE Group (India) ENDURANCE 
TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED (India), whose shares have been listed on the National Stock Exchange (NSE) and the 
Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) since October 2016.
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RISKS RELATED TO THE GENERAL STATE  OF THE ECONOMY

RISKS RELATED TO THE SECTOR IN WHICH THE COMPANY OPERATES: 
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RISKS RELATED TO THE ABILITY TO CREATE INNOVATIVE PRODUCTS: 

FINANCIAL RISKS: 
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COVID-19: Practical precautionary measures introduced to allow activities to continue while safeguarding the 
health of workers 
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Total 3,000,000 3,000,000 -

Total 4,016,207 3,790,493 225,714

Total 19,749,994 15,727,153 4,022,841

Total 3,466,974 4,022,878 555,904-
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General information on the company
 

Financial statements  
for the year ended March 31st, 2021  

Total intangible assets 1,797,195 832,260

Total tangible fixed assets 68,811,522 62,560,527

147



 

 

Total equity investments 284 284

Total receivables 3,000,000 3,000,000

Total financial fixed assets 3,000,284 3,000,284

Total fixed assets (B) 73,609,001 66,393,071

Total inventories 19,187,928 21,492,278

Total receivables 26,432,998 23,932,479

Total current financial assets 46,760,444 30,024,306
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Total cash and cash equivalents 22,463,173 23,034,228

Total current assets (C) 114,844,543 98,483,291

Total assets 189,033,834 165,212,259

Total other reserves 26,863,150 26,863,150

Total provisions for risks and charges 1,472,199 3,940,576
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Total payables 108,962,138 95,174,432

Total liabilities and quotaholders' equity 189,033,834 165,212,259

Total other income and revenues 3,062,800 3,273,969

Total value of production 137,563,641 175,126,850

Total payroll costs 24,608,455 25,147,495
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Total depreciation, amortisation and writedowns 13,614,831 18,359,264

Total cost of production 128,491,045 160,903,638

Total income other than the above 199,234 191,541

Total other financial income 199,234 191,541

Total interest and other financial charges 450,967 399,843

Total financial income and charges (15+16-17+-17-bis) (250,240) (119,938)

Total writedowns 133,543 39,122

Total adjustments to financial assets and liabilities (18-19) (133,543) (39,122)

Total income taxes for the year, current and deferred (509,160) 1,424,789
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1) Income (loss) for the year before income taxes, interest, dividends and gains/losses from disposals 8,659,495 14,183,036

Total adjustments for non-cash items that had no contra-entry in net working capital 13,749,259 18,399,620

2)  Cash flow before changes in net working capital 22,408,754 32,582,656

Total changes in net working capital 7,440,429 (6,097,123)

3) Cash flow after changes in net working capital 29,849,183 26,485,533

Total other adjustments (2,982,477) (4,702,159)

Cash flow from operating activities (A) 26,866,706 21,783,374
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Cash flow from investing activities (B) (24,459,429) (31,308,534)

Cash flow from financing activities (C) (2,978,332) (6,093,492)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A ± B ± C) (571,055) (15,618,652)
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Total changes 1,039,379 (44,590) - (55,054) 939,735
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Total changes (1,092,643) 6,133,377 (525,356) (52,621) 1,788,238 6,250,995
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TOTAL [a.6+(a.7-a.8)+b.1]
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Total 21,492,278 (2,304,350) 19,187,928
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Total 30,024,306 16,736,138 46,760,444

Total 23,034,228 (571,055) 22,463,173
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Cost of raw and ancillary materials, consumables and goods for resale and Cost of services 

Payroll costs 

Lease and rental charges 

Depreciation and amortisation 

Other operating expenses 
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IINDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 14 OF LEGISLATIVE DECREE No. 39 OF JANUARY 27, 2010

To the Sole Shareholder of
Endurance S.p.A.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Endurance S.p.A. (the “Company”), which comprise the
balance sheet as at March 31, 2021, the statement of income and statement of cash flows for the year
then ended and the explanatory notes.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Company as at March 31, 2021, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with the Italian law governing financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance
with the ethical requirements applicable under Italian law to the audit of the financial statements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Emphasis of matter

We draw attention to the "Fixed assets" section of the explanatory notes which provides information on
the revaluation carried out by the Company at March 31, 2021 pursuant to law no. 126/2020 and the
related effects on the values of fixed assets, equity and tax payables for the substitute tax.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Other matters

Pursuant to art. 2497-bis, first paragraph, of the Italian Civil Code, Endurance S.p.A. has disclosed that it
is subject to management and coordination of its activities by Endurance Technologies Limited (India) d,
therefore, has indicated in the notes to the financial statements the key financial data from the most
recent financial statements of such company. Our opinion on the financial statements of Endurance
S.p.A. does not extend to such data.
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RResponsibilities of the Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors for the Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with the Italian law governing financial statements, and, within the terms established by law,
for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless they have identified the existence of the conditions for the
liquidation of the Company or the termination of the business or have no realistic alternatives to such
choices.

The Board of Statutory Auditors is responsible for overseeing, within the terms established by law, the
Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia), we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
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modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue
as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance, identified at an appropriate level as required by
ISA Italia, regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

RREPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Opinion pursuant to art. 14, paragraph 2 (e) of Legislative Decree 39/10

The Directors of Endurance S.p.A. are responsible for the preparation of the report on operations of the
Company as at March 31, 2021, including its consistency with the related financial statements and its
compliance with the law.

We have carried out the procedures set forth in the Auditing Standard (SA Italia) n. 720B in order to
express an opinion on the consistency of the report on operations with the financial statements of the
Company as at March 31, 2021 and on its compliance with the law, as well as to make a statement about
any material misstatement.

In our opinion, the report on operations is consistent with the financial statements of Endurance S.p.A.
as at March 31, 2021 and is prepared in accordance with the law.

With reference to the statement referred to in art. 14, paragraph 2 (e), of Legislative Decree 39/10,
made on the basis of the knowledge and understanding of the entity and of the related context acquired
during the audit, we have nothing to report.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE S.p.A.

Signed by
Giorgio Barbieri
Partner

Turin, Italy
May 18, 2021

This report has been translated into the English language solely for the convenience of international readers.
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ENDURANCE SPA  
Head office: VIA REGIONE POZZO 26 CHIVASSO (TURIN) 
Tax Code, Turin Chamber of Commerce and Turin Companies Register No. 01782370017  
Turin Chamber of Commerce no. 518048  
Share capital: € 5,000,000.00 subscribed and fully paid  
VAT Number: 01782370017  
Sole shareholder company  
Management control and coordination: ENDURANCE TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED 
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ENDURANCE ENGINEERING SRL  
Head office: STRADA DEL CASCINOTTO 135/A TORINO (Turin) 
Tax Code, Turin Chamber of Commerce and Turin Companies Register No. 11081890011  
  
Turin Business Register (REA) no. 1186114  
Quota capital: € 100,000.00 subscribed and fully paid  
VAT Number: 11081890011  
Sole quotaholder company  
Management control and coordination: ENDURANCE OVERSEAS S.r.l.  
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ENDURANCE 
Group (India) ENDURANCE TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED 
(India), whose shares have been listed on the National Stock Exchange (NSE) and the Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) since 
October 2016.
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RISKS RELATED TO THE GENERAL STATE  OF THE ECONOMY

RISKS RELATED TO THE SECTOR IN WHICH THE COMPANY OPERATES: 

RISKS RELATED TO THE ABILITY TO CREATE INNOVATIVE PRODUCTS: 

FINANCIAL RISKS: 
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Total 214,544 705,841 (491,297)

Total 34,619 104,192 (69,573)
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General information on the company
 

Financial statements for the year 
ended March 31st, 2021  

Total intangible assets 491,103 33,640
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Total tangible fixed assets 1,048,304 902,205

Total equity investments 5 5

Total financial fixed assets 5 5

Total fixed assets (B) 1,539,412 935,850

Total inventories 2,237,431 1,864,822

Total receivables 1,956,844 2,751,571

Total current financial assets 1,151,083 1,241,562

Total cash and cash equivalents 3,479,573 4,910,398

Total current assets (C) 8,824,931 10,768,353

Total assets 10,437,620 11,782,578
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Total other reserves 1,900,000 1,900,000

Total provisions for risks and charges 2,117 353,167

Total payables 4,872,434 5,484,080

Total liabilities and quotaholders' equity 10,437,620 11,782,578
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Total other income and revenues 99,532 60,100

Total value of production 10,113,407 14,940,725

Total payroll costs 2,578,690 3,319,236

Total depreciation, amortisation and writedowns 399,275 286,822

Total cost of production 9,135,529 13,091,395

Total income other than the above 18 63

Total other financial income 18 63

Total interest and other financial charges 35,901 41,245

Total financial income and charges (15+16-17+-17-bis) (35,883) (41,182)

Total revaluations 1,050 -

205



 

 

Total writedowns - 3,167

Total adjustments to financial assets and liabilities (18-19) 1,050 (3,167)

Total income taxes for the year, current and deferred 319,864 521,580

1) Income (loss) for the year before income taxes, interest, dividends and gains/losses from 
disposals 978,928 1,846,163

Total adjustments for non-cash items that had no contra-entry in net working capital 403,128 296,924

2)  Cash flow before changes in net working capital 1,382,056 2,143,087

Total changes in net working capital 113,603 98,082

3) Cash flow after changes in net working capital 1,495,659 2,241,169
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Total other adjustments (388,983) (946,643)

Cash flow from operating activities (A) 1,106,676 1,294,526

Cash flow from investing activities (B) (891,539) 2,168,728

Cash flow from financing activities (C) (1,645,962) 419,280
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A ± B ± C) (1,430,825) 3,882,534
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Total changes - 4,599 - 287,569 165,295 457,463
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Total changes (6,767) 4,253 (50,804) (10,333) 209,750 146,099

217



 

 

Total 1,864,822 372,609 2,237,431
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Total 1,241,562 (90,479) 1,151,083

Total 4,910,398 (1,430,825) 3,479,573
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Cost of raw and ancillary materials, consumables and goods for resale and Cost of services 
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Payroll costs 

Depreciation, amortisation and provisions 

Other operating expenses 
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IINDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 14 OF LEGISLATIVE DECREE No. 39 OF JANUARY 27, 2010

To the Sole Quotaholder of
Endurance Engineering S.r.l.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Endurance Engineering S.r.l. (the “Company”), which
comprise the balance sheet as at March 31, 2021, the statement of income and statement of cash flows
for the year then ended and the explanatory notes.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Company as at March 31, 2021, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with the Italian law governing financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance
with the ethical requirements applicable under Italian law to the audit of the financial statements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Other matters

Pursuant to art. 2497-bis, first paragraph, of the Italian Civil Code, Endurance Engineering S.r.l. has
disclosed that it is subject to management and coordination of its activities by Endurance Technologies
Limited (India) and, therefore, has indicated in the notes to the financial statements the key financial
data from the most recent financial statements of such company. Our opinion on the financial
statements of Endurance Engineering S.r.l. does not extend to such data.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with the Italian law governing financial statements, and, within the terms established by law,
for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless they have identified the existence of the conditions for the
liquidation of the Company or the termination of the business or have no realistic alternatives to such
choices.

AAuditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia), we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue
as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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We communicate with those charged with governance, identified at an appropriate level as required by
ISA Italia, regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

RREPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Opinion pursuant to art. 14, paragraph 2 (e) of Legislative Decree 39/10

The Directors of Endurance Engineering S.r.l. are responsible for the preparation of the report on
operations of the Company as at March 31, 2021, including its consistency with the related financial
statements and its compliance with the law.

We have carried out the procedures set forth in the Auditing Standard (SA Italia) n. 720B in order to
express an opinion on the consistency of the report on operations with the financial statements of the
Company as at March 31, 2021 and on its compliance with the law, as well as to make a statement about
any material misstatement.

In our opinion, the report on operations is consistent with the financial statements of Endurance
Engineering S.r.l. as at March 31, 2021 and is prepared in accordance with the law.

With reference to the statement referred to in art. 14, paragraph 2 (e), of Legislative Decree 39/10,
made on the basis of the knowledge and understanding of the entity and of the related context acquired
during the audit, we have nothing to report.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE S.p.A.

Signed by
Giorgio Barbieri
Partner

Turin, Italy
May 18, 2021

This report has been translated into the English language solely for the convenience of international readers.
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ENDURANCE CASTINGS SPA  
Head office: CONCA D'ORO 14 - 14/A BIONE (BRESCIA) 
Tax Code and Brescia Companies Register no. 00293110177 
  
BRESCIA Chamber of Commerce (REA) no. 55600  
Share capital: € 900,000.00 subscribed and fully paid  
VAT Number: 00551150980  

 
 

235



ENDURANCE 
Group (India) ENDURANCE TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED 
(India), whose shares have been listed on the National Stock Exchange of India (NSE) and the Bombay Stock Exchange 
(BSE) India.
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RISKS RELATED TO THE GENERAL STATE  OF THE ECONOMY

RISKS RELATED TO THE SECTOR IN WHICH THE COMPANY OPERATES: 

RISKS RELATED TO THE ABILITY TO CREATE INNOVATIVE PRODUCTS: 

FINANCIAL RISKS: 
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COVID-19: Practical precautionary measures introduced to allow activities to continue while safeguarding the health 
of workers 

-
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Total 2,593,898 2,015,077 578,821
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Total 286,662 193,972 92,690
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General information on the company
 

Financial statements for the year 
ended March 31st, 2021 

Total intangible assets - 975

Total tangible fixed assets 5,759,344 6,454,707
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Total equity investments 4,530 4,530

Total receivables 13,188 15,755

Total financial fixed assets 17,718 20,285

Total fixed assets (B) 5,777,062 6,475,967

Total inventories 3,372,086 3,648,835

Total receivables 7,739,979 6,371,026

Total current financial assets 7,033,022 3,106,892

Total cash and cash equivalents 1,070,033 2,562,903

Total current assets (C) 19,215,120 15,689,656

Total assets 25,375,250 22,233,635
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Total other reserves 5,453,161 5,453,161

Total provisions for risks and charges 1,460,859 1,471,342

Total payables 12,258,935 9,379,965

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 25,375,250 22,233,635
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Total other income and revenues 592,859 1,157,247

Total value of production 27,695,312 32,584,188

Total payroll costs 3,932,529 4,690,373

Total depreciation, amortisation and writedowns 825,591 913,157

Total cost of production 26,333,805 30,166,843

Total income from equity investments - 77

Total income other than the above 2,795 11,511

Total other financial income 2,795 11,511
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Total interest and other financial charges 22,911 52,661

Total financial income and charges (15+16-17+-17-bis) (20,116) (41,073)

Total income taxes for the year, current and deferred (27,271) 538,701

1) Income (loss) for the year before income taxes, interest, dividends and gains/losses from disposals 1,361,507 2,417,345

Total adjustments for non-cash items that had no contra-entry in net working capital 911,666 838,243

2)  Cash flow before changes in net working capital 2,273,173 3,255,588

Total changes in net working capital 1,586,491 (1,125,127)

3) Cash flow after changes in net working capital 3,859,664 2,130,461
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Total other adjustments (293,825) (279,345)

Cash flow from operating activities (A) 3,565,839 1,851,116

Cash flow from investing activities (B) (4,089,957) (3,858,795)

Cash flow from financing activities (C) (968,752) 839,432

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A ± B ± C) (1,492,870) (1,168,247)
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Total changes - - - (975) (975)
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Total changes (225,024) (325,679) - (9,559) (135,101) (695,363)
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Total 3,648,835 (276,749) 3,372,086
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Total 3,106,892 3,926,130 7,033,022

Total 2,562,903 (1,492,870) 1,070,033
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IINDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 14 OF LEGISLATIVE DECREE No. 39 OF JANUARY 27, 2010

To the Sole Shareholder of
Endurance Castings S.p.A.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Endurance Castings S.p.A. (the “Company”), which comprise
the balance sheet as at March 31, 2021, the statement of income and statement of cash flows for the
year then ended and the explanatory notes.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Company as at March 31, 2021, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with the Italian law governing financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance
with the ethical requirements applicable under Italian law to the audit of the financial statements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Other matters

Pursuant to art. 2497-bis, first paragraph, of the Italian Civil Code, Endurance Castings S.p.A. has
disclosed that it is subject to management and coordination of its activities by Endurance Technologies
Limited (India) and, therefore, has indicated in the notes to the financial statements the key financial
data from the most recent financial statements of such company. Our opinion on the financial
statements of Endurance Castings S.p.A. does not extend to such data.

Responsibilities of the Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors for the Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with the Italian law governing financial statements, and, within the terms established by law,
for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless they have identified the existence of the conditions for the
liquidation of the Company or the termination of the business or have no realistic alternatives to such
choices.

The Board of Statutory Auditors is responsible for overseeing, within the terms established by law, the
Company’s financial reporting process.

AAuditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia), we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue
as a going concern.
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Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance, identified at an appropriate level as required by
ISA Italia, regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

RREPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Opinion pursuant to art. 14, paragraph 2 (e) of Legislative Decree 39/10

The Directors of Endurance Castings S.p.A. are responsible for the preparation of the report on
operations of the Company as at March 31, 2021, including its consistency with the related financial
statements and its compliance with the law.

We have carried out the procedures set forth in the Auditing Standard (SA Italia) n. 720B in order to
express an opinion on the consistency of the report on operations with the financial statements of the
Company as at March 31, 2021 and on its compliance with the law, as well as to make a statement about
any material misstatement.

In our opinion, the report on operations is consistent with the financial statements of Endurance Castings
S.p.A. as at March 31, 2021 and is prepared in accordance with the law.

With reference to the statement referred to in art. 14, paragraph 2 (e), of Legislative Decree 39/10,
made on the basis of the knowledge and understanding of the entity and of the related context acquired
during the audit, we have nothing to report.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE S.p.A.

Signed by
Giorgio Barbieri
Partner

Turin, Italy
May 18, 2021

This report has been translated into the English language solely for the convenience of international readers.
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RISKS RELATED TO THE GENERAL STATE OF THE ECONOMY

RISKS RELATED TO THE SECTOR IN WHICH THE COMPANY OPERATES: 

RISKS RELATED TO THE ABILITY TO CREATE INNOVATIVE PRODUCTS: 

FINANCIAL RISKS: 
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Total 40,522 - 40,522

Total 5,236,056 440,804 4,795,252

-
-
-
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General information on the company
 

Financial statements for the year 
ended March 31st, 2021  

Total intangible assets 2,850,646 1,327,967
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Total tangible fixed assets 1,691,208 1,127,653

Total equity investments 24 3,598,177

Total receivables 800,000 -

Total financial fixed assets 800,024 3,598,177

Total fixed assets (B) 5,341,878 6,053,797

Total inventories 800,478 1,753,698

Total receivables 3,079,270 2,612,679

Total cash and cash equivalents 1,147,834 50,984

Total current assets (C) 6,302,582 4,417,361

Total assets 11,716,654 10,552,579

293



 
 

Total other reserves - 3,598,152

Total provisions for risks and charges 844,109 601,300

Total payables 7,701,867 7,669,968

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 11,716,654 10,552,579
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Total other income and revenues 562,569 149,151

Total value of production 7,215,937 1,904,405

Total payroll costs 1,816,725 695,583

Total depreciation, amortisation and writedowns 1,444,061 676,721

Total cost of production 8,524,236 2,718,738

Total income other than the above 238 50

Total other financial income 238 50

Total interest and other financial charges 111,835 34,253

295



 
 

Total financial income and charges (15+16-17+-17-bis) (116,732) (31,965)

Total income taxes for the year, current and deferred (199,800) (535,022)

1) Income (loss) for the year before income taxes, interest, dividends and gains/losses from 
disposals (1,629,075) (803,210)

Total adjustments for non-cash items that had no counterpart in net working capital 1,849,748 771,377

2)  Cash flow before changes in net working capital 220,673 (31,833)

Total changes in net working capital (188,632) 431,617

3) Cash flow after changes in net working capital 32,041 399,784

Total other adjustments (551,740) (298,551)

Cash flow from operating activities (A) (519,699) 101,233
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Cash flow from investing activities (B) 1,960,809 499,801

Cash flow from financing activities (C) (344,260) (658,414)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A ± B ± C) 1,096,850 (57,380)

297



 
 

298



 
 

299



 
 

300



 
 

301



 
 

302



 
 

303



 
 

304



 
 

Total changes 5,205 122,874 295,096 1,100,000 - 10,370 (10,865) 1,522,680
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Total changes 696,158 (64,818) (90,300) (42,961) 498,079
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Total 1,753,698 (953,220) 800,478
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Total 50,984 1,096,850 1,147,834
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IINDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 14 OF LEGISLATIVE DECREE No. 39 OF JANUARY 27, 2010

To the Shareholders of
Endurance Adler S.p.A.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Endurance Adler S.p.A. (the “Company”), which comprise
the balance sheet as at March 31, 2021, the statement of income and statement of cash flows for the
year then ended and the explanatory notes.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Company as at March 31, 2021, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with the Italian law governing financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance
with the ethical requirements applicable under Italian law to the audit of the financial statements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Emphasis of matter

As illustrated by the Directors in paragraph "Key events" of the report of operations and in paragraph
"Comparability of the previous year’s figures" of the explanatory notes, during the year took place the
merger of Adler RE S.r.l. and Grimeca S.r.l. in Endurance Adler S.p.A. Such transactions were assigned
legal effects from January 1, 2021, with accounting and tax effects backdated to April 1, 2020.

In addition, with resolution dated April 16, 2020, the Shareholders' Meeting approved the change in the
reference date of the financial year, setting the duration from April 1st to March 31st of the following
year. This change was implemented in order to align the balance sheet date with that of the other
companies of the Endurance Group. Consequently, the Company prepared the financial statements for
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the 3 months period from January 1, 2020 to March 31, 2020, whose figures are therefore not
comparable with those of the current period ended March 31, 2021 (referring to a 12 months period
from April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021).

Our opinion is not modified in respect of these matters.

OOther matters

Pursuant to art. 2497-bis, first paragraph, of the Italian Civil Code, Endurance Adler S.p.A. has disclosed
that it is subject to management and coordination of its activities by Endurance Technologies Limited
(India) and, therefore, has indicated in the notes to the financial statements the key financial data from
the most recent financial statements of such company. Our opinion on the financial statements of
Endurance Adler S.p.A. does not extend to such data.

Responsibilities of the Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors for the Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with the Italian law governing financial statements, and, within the terms established by law,
for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless they have identified the existence of the conditions for the
liquidation of the Company or the termination of the business or have no realistic alternatives to such
choices.

The Board of Statutory Auditors is responsible for overseeing, within the terms established by law, the
Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia), we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
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Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue
as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance, identified at an appropriate level as required by
ISA Italia, regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

RREPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Opinion pursuant to art. 14, paragraph 2 (e) of Legislative Decree 39/10

The Directors of Endurance Adler S.p.A. are responsible for the preparation of the report on operations
of the Company as at March 31, 2021, including its consistency with the related financial statements and
its compliance with the law.

We have carried out the procedures set forth in the Auditing Standard (SA Italia) n. 720B in order to
express an opinion on the consistency of the report on operations with the financial statements of the
Company as at March 31, 2021 and on its compliance with the law, as well as to make a statement about
any material misstatement.

In our opinion, the report on operations is consistent with the financial statements of Endurance Adler
S.p.A. as at March 31, 2021 and is prepared in accordance with the law.
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With reference to the statement referred to in art. 14, paragraph 2 (e), of Legislative Decree 39/10,
made on the basis of the knowledge and understanding of the entity and of the related context acquired
during the audit, we have nothing to report.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE S.p.A.

Signed by
GGiorgio Barbieri
Partner

Turin, Italy
May 18, 2021

This report has been translated into the English language solely for the convenience of international readers.
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